
Please ask for Democratic Services DDI (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMISSION

Date & Time - Thursday, 26th September, 2019 at 10.00 
am

Venue - Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members of the OSC

Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr E. Colman
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr D. Wickerson

Substitute Members
Cllr R Atterwill
Cllr H Crane
Cllr H Clarke
Cllr P Morton
Cllr P Wilkinson

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or blog from 
this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  No part of the meeting 
room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting resolves to go into private session.  
However, the use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.  

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Thursday, 19 September 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/




Overview and Scrutiny Commission
26 September 2019

PROTOCOL

Working Style of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission (OSC) and Other 
Scrutiny Bodies

This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted 
by the OSC and other scrutiny bodies such as Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups.

Member Leadership

Members of the OSC will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and will recognise 
that best practice identifies scrutiny as a non-executive Member-led activity. The OSC will expect 
Cabinet members to take prime responsibility for answering their questions about topics which chiefly 
relate to the Council’s activities.

A Constructive Atmosphere

Meetings of the OSC will be constructive and not judgmental. The Commission recognises and 
accepts that effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People 
giving evidence should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack.

Independence 

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party 
groups.

Respect and Trust

Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust.

Consensus

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will work together and, while recognising political 
allegiances, will attempt to achieve consensus and agreed targeted recommendations. There will be 
recognition that the OSC has a primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community.

Openness and Transparency

The OSC’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for 
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Commission’s meetings will explain the discussion and 
debate so that they can be understood by an outside reader.

Impartial and Independent Officer Advice

Officers who advise and support scrutiny will give impartial and independent advice, as officers 
support all members of the Council.

Regular Review

There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it 
is not working effectively.

Programming and Planning 

It is the responsibility of the OSC and the wider non-executive to determine its work programme and 
to allocate specific reviews either through a dedicated task and finish group or to undertake a review 
itself. Before each topic/review is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what 
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to 
see.



Managing Time

The OSC will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of business 
will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. 

Member/Officer Roles

Executive members will regularly be called to account for the decisions they have made and to 
explain progress in key areas of their portfolio – and in the case of the Council Leader – the Council 
as a whole. Members will be expected to produce and present a brief written account of their 
executive activities and will then be questioned by members of the OSC for a period no longer than 20 
minutes.

Co-optees

“Expert witnesses” may be co-opted onto scrutiny task and finish groups to provide technical 
assistance to the review. Co-optees possess no voting rights.

Substitutes

Substitute members will be so listed on the agenda papers of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. It 
is a member responsibility to alert a substitute in the event that she/he cannot attend a meeting. 



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
26 September 2019

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

1. MINUTES 7 - 15
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019.

2. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence and to note substitute Members in 
attendance.

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members or public speakers wishing to 
address the meeting.

7. QUARTER 1 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 16 - 38

Report of Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Governance, 
Councillor Paul Claussen.

8. HONORARIUM POLICY 39 - 46

To receive a report from HR Manager Susie Richardson.

9. SECTION 106 (S106) BRIEFING NOTE 47 - 58

Report of Executive Director of Place, Rob Walker.

10. BRECKLAND'S APPROACH TO ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
To receive a presentation from the Environmental Protection 
Manager.

11. OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update from representatives on Outside Bodies.



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
26 September 2019

Page(s)
herewith

12. SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 
To note whether any decisions have been called-in for scrutiny.

13. COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 
To consider any references.

14. WORK PROGRAMME 59 - 64
(a) A copy of the Commission’s work programme is attached.  The 

Commission is asked to agree any additions, deletions or 
amendments to the programme as appropriate.

(b) Member Issues:  In accordance with the Commission’s protocol for 
member leadership, which states that members of the Commission 
will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and 
in the questioning of witnesses, members are invited to put forward 
items for selection for future review.

A copy of the Key Decision Plan is attached for Members’ information.

15. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on 7 November 
2019, at 10.00am in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham.

16. BRECKLAND BRIDGE EXTENSION 65 - 75

To receive a presentation from the Strategic Property Manager 
Ralph Burton.

17. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC 
ARE EXCLUDED  

18. BRECKLAND BRIDGE EXTENSION 76 - 97

 



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 11 July 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr E. Colman
Mr F. Eagle

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr H. E. J. Clarke (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr P. Morton
Mr M. Robinson
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr R. Atterwill
Mrs S. Dowling

In Attendance
Matthew Hogan - Executive Manager Growth
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services 

Manager
Hannah Hooks - Housing Manager
Stefan Clifford - Communities Officer
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
41/19 MINUTES 

The Chairman asked Members to confirm the minutes of the meeting 
held on 30 May 2019. 

Councillor Birt asked if more information could be included in the 
minutes as he felt some matters had been omitted. The Chairman 
explained only key outcomes should be recorded as there was a danger 
of minutes being too lengthy.  

Councillor Turner asked if Item 35/19 Q4 2019-19 Performance 
Overview Report page 3 under staff sickness be expanded to read the 
following: ‘It was explained to members that the CEO as Head of Paid 
Services was responsible for employment and management of staff. 
Only if Members had a concern that a service or department was 
struggling would it be appropriate to get involved.’

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 May 2019 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed subject to the amendments as mentioned 
above. 

7

Agenda Item 1



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

2

Action By
 

42/19 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Jermy. Councillor Clarke was 
in attendance as Councillor Jermy’s substitute.

43/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Chairman announced that items 14 and 15 on the Agenda was an 
option for this meeting to go to a closed session. Councillor Bambridge 
had already informed Members of the details of this agenda item. The 
Chairman asked for Members to vote on whether this item should be 
excluded from Press and Public, the majority of Members agreed it 
should be excluded from Press and Public. 

It was agreed that the Press and Public should be excluded at this time.

44/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

45/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

46/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

None.

47/19 FLY TIPPING REVIEW 

Councillor Webb explained that the report of the Fly Tipping Task and 
Finish Group had been circulated to Members and the results had been 
previously presented to the OSC. The outcomes highlighted a couple of 
areas of improvement, a need to improve ease by which public could 
report fly tips and enforcement had been limited for a number of years. 

A new Enforcement Officer had since been employed and progress had 
been achieved in working with Norfolk Waste Partnership. Councillor 
Webb reassured Members that there was now a clear prioritisation of 
resource and that a zero tolerance was being adopted which was what 
the public wanted.

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager, Steve James 
introduced the Enforcement Officer, James Harding who he had brought 
experience and dedication to moving enforcement forwards. Members 
were informed that, over the last few months the Council had issued 6 
fixed penalty notices across the district. Three had been for fly tipping, 
one for littering, one for fly posting and one for an individual who did not 
have a waste carrier’s licence. A removal service had been conducted 
without a waste carrier’s licence and then a fly tip had occurred on an 
estate in Thetford. The Enforcement Officer had worked significantly 
hard with partners such as the police, interviewing the individual under 
caution, networking with Norfolk County Council, and using CCTV 
footage to bring that to a conclusion where a fixed penalty notice had 

8



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

3

Action By
been issued. The individual had accepted the guilt and is currently on a 
6 month payment plan to repay the amount he owed. 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager went on to 
explain that he had also focussed efforts on wider community work, 
primarily on the Abbey Estate, the High Street and Butten Island in 
Thetford. On The Abbey Estate there had been frequent fly tipping 
which was cleared daily by Serco and had become routine behaviour. 
Over the last month, officers had attended the estate twice a week, 
hoping to identify perpetrators by having a visible presence and 
educating the perpetrators on their duties under the legislation of how to 
dispose of their waste properly. This would be continued over the 
summer to help prevent any escalation of issues. 

Butten Island was a place where there was a prevalence of day drinkers 
and general anti-social behaviour. Officers had attended the site on 
multiple occasions and engaged directly with individuals involved. All 
were working with the Police in terms of how this could be dealt with, 
which could lead to the issuing of Community Protection Warning 
Notices. This work would continue.

The Team had been engaging internally with the Digital Team and with 
the ICT Web Team about improving the ease of which people could 
report fly tipping. Positive feedback had been received and evidence of 
a fly tip being reported had been collected within 30 minutes. 

The Chairman explained that the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
had been instrumental in both scrutinising and driving forward this 
progress, and hopefully it would continue and performance would be 
improved. 

Councillor Nairn asked for confirmation on the cost of a fixed penalty 
notice. The Enforcement Officer, James Harding, confirmed that if it was 
paid within 10 working days it was £300, post 10 working days was 
£400.

Councillor Nairn also asked about waste licences and where the 
responsibility lied for checking that a carrier had a licence. The 
Communities and Environmental Services Manager confirmed the 
ultimate responsibility lied with the person using the service. The public 
needed to check that the company had an appropriate licence. He also 
explained that Norfolk County Council were running a ‘Scrap It’ 
campaign to raise public awareness. The Communities and 
Environmental Service Manager said that he could work with 
communications to publicise the message further. Councillor Nairn felt 
that the Council should also publicise and suggested using Facebook 
and Twitter to make residents more aware. Councillor Webb agreed that 
more publicising should be undertaken to ensure the public had the 
necessary information to make informed choices to dispose of waste.

Councillor Wickerson said that this was not unique to Breckland but 
countywide, possibly national. The public were unsure what they could 
dispose of and where to take it. The Task & Finish Group established a 
misunderstanding from the public and he would be interested in any 
conversations with Norfolk Waste Partnership. The Communities and 
Environmental Services Manager pointed out that the Head of Waste for 

9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

4

Action By
Norfolk County Council had attended the Task & finish Group and it had 
been established that there was a misunderstanding from the residents 
on what they could or could not take to the Recycle Centres.  Research 
figures showed when they were reviewed that the nature of the fly tips 
collected, a significant amount could have been taken to the Recycle 
Centres, and residents should have been better informed.

Councillor Nairn explained although there was a charge for some waste, 
the charge was for a measured quantity but it seemed that people were 
being charged the full amount. 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager stated the 
policy decision had been taken by Norfolk County Council. If the 
commission felt that this matter should be further explored, the Head of 
Waste could be invited back to the Commission to establish if that policy 
decision needed to be reviewed in line with the changes that Breckland 
Council was making to deal with fly tipping.

It was agreed that the Head of Waste should be invited back to a future 
meeting. It would be added to the Work Programme accordingly.

Councillor Turner agreed that there was not enough publicity in relation 
to waste disposal. She suggested publicising information on free sites, 
where no money changed hands. Councillor Turner also suggested 
further information for residents might be useful, particularly in a multi-
cultural society as well as HMOs explaining possibly in pictorial form 
what goes in which bin.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris pointed out that another area that needed to be 
looked at was fly tipping on private land. These costs had to be borne 
by the land owner were unacceptable and unjust and something that 
should be investigated. He drew attention to para 1.3 of the report 
where it mentioned materials being used and asked for this to be 
explained.

He also questioned the Norfolk Waste Enforcement Group, and asked 
when this had been set up and how often this met and whether it was a 
robust enough body to cope with these matters.

The Communications and Environmental Services Manager explained 
that fly tipping on private land remained with the land owner, however, 
this was something the Team were looking at and were working with the 
land owners where possible. 

In response to the question about the materials being used, the 
Communications and Environmental Services Manager stated that this 
was publicity educational material as a result of a trial from a local 
authority, largely social media based, that had been sent out in order to 
educate the communities. This had resulted in a positive impact and 
Norfolk County Council had followed that template and used that 
mechanism. He would be happy to circulate it to Members for 
information. 

The Communications and Environmental Service Manager then went on 
to explain that the Norfolk Waste Enforcement Group reported directly 
into the Norfolk Waste Partnership. Breckland Council did not have 

10



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

5

Action By
representation on it, however the group could be shaped to make it 
more effective.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris stated Norfolk County Council had arranged a 
hazardous waste amnesty in September, as well as a new scheme for 
re-cycling re-usable paint. He felt that his should be advertised through 
communications.

Councillor Clarke welcomed the progress made so far and was aware, 
as being part of the Task & Finish Group, where there had been 
particular concentrations of fly tipping either by volume or incidents. He 
was pleased that the report had been issued and encouraged Members 
to read it. The heat map was of particular interest. Also Ward Members 
needed to be included, if there were any fly tips that the team were 
investigating in their wards. He also felt that Members should be the 
‘eyes and ears’ for the community and report back to the Enforcement 
Team if necessary. 

Councillor Eagle asked if the Council could publicise a list of Waste 
Licence Carriers on the website. Members discussed the pros and cons 
to maintain an up to date list. It was felt the public should be made 
aware of their responsibilities.  The Communication and Environmental 
Services Manager would look into this and investigate feasible options.

Councillor Bushell suggested getting this information out in a leaflet 
form which could be made available at surgeries. 

Councillor Kiddle-Morris suggested CCTV cameras. In response 
Councillor Webb confirmed that this was already being considered.

48/19 BRECKLAND LOTTERY UPDATE 

Councillor Mark Robinson gave a brief update on the Breckland lottery 
and how it was launched on 30 March 2018. Current key figures 
generated thus far was £72,800 revenue and £43,680 had gone directly 
to local community groups and organisations. On 1 June 2019 the 
Breckland Lottery Community Fund launched to coincide with the 
National Volunteers Week and offered verified good causes the 
opportunity to apply for grants of £250, £500 and £1,000 in return for 
committing to sign up an additional 10, 20 or 30 new players to the 
Scheme. The Scheme encouraged community organisations to recruit 
new supporters to their good cause which in turn generated more funds 
for the communities to share the following year. In the last month, there 
had been an increase of over 70 new players generating an additional 
140 ticket sales per week giving the Council its highest weekly figure to 
date. The fund operated on a first past the post system and remained 
open to existing good causes and new groups interested in signing up. 
The scheme was operated by the Communities Team and new groups 
interested in signing up should visit www.ourbrecklandlottery.co.uk.

To date top performing good causes were:

PACT Animal Charity - £4,966.00
Garboldisham Fox CIC - £1,820.00
The Daisy Programme - £1,560.00
Dereham Theatre Company - £1,560.00

11

http://www.ourbrecklandlottery.co.uk/


Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

6

Action By
Thetford Netball Club - £1,500

There had also been community winners, and it was a great motivator 
to support local good causes and have the chance of winning a weekly 
cash prize of £25,000.

For every £1 ticket sold:

 50p went to local good causes that were signed up to the 
Breckland Lottery:

 10p went to The Breckland Lottery Community Fund: and
 20p went to the lottery prize fund;
 20p went towards running costs.

The Chairman asked for more information on the Lottery Management 
Company, Gatherwell Ltd. The Communities and Environmental 
Services Manager explained the amount of research that had been 
undertaken in appointing Gatherwell.  It had a history of working with 42 
other local authorities with a proven track record. The Council did not 
fund it or make money from it. Only 10p in the £1 came into Breckland 
Council as part of its Community Fund which in turn was distributed to 
good causes. The support of the Lottery and its communication was on 
the basis that Breckland Council believed it was a valuable investment 
to establish a sustainable and ongoing fund for good causes to 
generate income. 

Members questioned how Officer time was paid for in the hours spent 
helping to run the lottery.

Councillor Turner had concerns over smaller groups missing out and 
asked if this could be looked at so it could be an all-inclusive lottery.

Councillor Birt asked about the figures quoted on the website which did 
not equate to the figures mentioned above. He also asked if Breckland 
Council were fully insured against any pay out and risk. He also 
questioned how the Council ensured that players were over 16 and a 
resident of Breckland. Finally he had concerns about the fact that 
information was stored on Google servers and felt that the Council 
needs to be careful to ensure it was GDPR compliant.

In response the Communities and Environmental Services Manager 
explained that the insurance was covered by part of the fee paid to 
Gatherwell who were fully insured and the Council was not at any risk 
for any pay out. 

In terms of the risk associated with checking ages, a strict and vigorous 
audit was undertaken by the Gambling Commission who ensured that 
Gatherwell and Breckland Council were fully compliant with all of the 
requirements of legislation in order that it was protected from underage 
players – appropriate safeguards were in place.

As for being GDPR compliant, the Communities and Environmental 
Services Manager would check with Gatherwell on the storage of 
information and get a response for the Commission. 

The Executive Director Place, Rob Walker explained that he and the 

12



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

7

Action By
Place Manager, Riana Rudland held the licence to operate the lottery 
for Breckland Council and the process and procedures were onerous 
and rigorous and the Gambling Commission regularly checked to 
ensure Breckland Council were doing everything it should.

Members asked for an analysis on the Officer time spent and costs 
taken to run the scheme. The Chairman asked for this information to be 
reported back to the OSC in 3 months’ time.

49/19 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Kybird stated that the Norfolk Records Committee and the 
Norfolk Joint Museums Committee had met recently. There was a tour 
available for District Council Members to visit the Record Office on 25th 
July at 1.30pm, there was no need to book a place. 

Councillor Kybird was elected Vice-Chairman of the Joint Museums 
committee and minutes would be distributed to Members of the 
Commission once issued.  One matter to note was the final draft of the 
5 year forward plan which ran until 2023, 2024 was the 100th 
anniversary of the Ancient House Museum in Thetford, and he had 
asked for something to be included on the next Forward Plan in 
preparation for that celebration.

Council Bambridge was a member of The Norfolk Rivers IDB and a 
written report was sent to all Members periodically but he was happy to 
answer any queries at these OSC meetings.

Councillor Wickerson and Councillor Eagle were members of the 
Hammond Educational Charity of which the remit covered the entire 
Breckland District. Applications for grants were available to all students 
up to the age of 21, educational establishments and any activity which 
encouraged youth physical education and apprenticeships. Councillor 
Wickerson said he would provide the Charity’s document of charitable 
aims for Members in due course and he asked Members to spread the 
word.

Councillor Birt gave an update on a number of follow up actions from 
outside of the meeting. 

He had met with Ross Bangs with regard to the website and the number 
of visits to it. This was still ongoing and would be reported back 
accordingly.

Response to telephone calls – he and the Customer Contact Centre 
Manager (Interim), Zoe Webster looked at the reporting function to 
measure the waiting time. The process was explained in great detail. 
Further evaluation was required.

At the same meeting Councillor Birt had been offered access to 
Pentana, the Council’s Performance Management System in relation to 
the KPIs which were presented to the Commission. It was explained 
that the access was available to anyone who wanted it and if Members 
were interested in any further information they should contact Ross 
Bangs and ask for a log in. Councillor Birt felt this was a good step 

13



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

8

Action By
forward as it provided a better understanding of the data presented.

There had been no progress on the review of unemployment levels. 
Councillor Birt would feed this back to the commission when any 
information had been received on this matter.

The Chairman thanked Councillor Birt for his efforts particularly the 
telephone handling information and suggested that this should be 
included on the work programme for the next performance quarterly 
report review.

50/19 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

51/19 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

52/19 WORK PROGRAMME 

Councillor Kybird queried the Smoke Free Council entry. The Executive 
Director Strategy and Governance, Maxine O’Mahony explained that 
the Council was considering going smoke free and that this was 
currently being researched and would be brought to the Commission for 
their views in the near future.
 
Councillor Clarke asked about the entry on 19th December. ‘To seek an 
update from the Flagship Task and Finish Group’. The group had now 
finished and he asked if this should just be an update on the issues that 
came out of the report? Councillor Turner confirmed as Chair of the 
Group that it would be useful to come back and have a further 
discussion on the outcomes and how these had benefited residents and 
what the next steps we. She that Flagship be invited to a future meeting 
for an update.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris reported that the new Local Plan was set to be 
ratified by Council in September, followed by a 2 year review. He 
suggested that sustainable development in rural communities should be 
considered by the Commission to look at how policies should be worded 
for developments in local communities. He suggested setting up a Task 
& Finish Group to be discussed at the December meeting.

Councillor Martin suggested Anglian Water should be invited to explain 
their statutory duty to connect.

The Chairman said that the work programme would be amended to 
reflect the aforementioned suggestions and would be distributed to 
Members accordingly. 

53/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 26 September 2019 at 
10:00am in the Anglia Room, Eliabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham 
were noted.

14



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
11 July 2019

9

Action By
54/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

55/19 PRESENTATION ON PROPERTY ACQUISITION 

Members received a presentation relating to the acquisition of the 
former Norfolk County Council Day Centre and associated land holdings 
at Elm Road in Thetford. By securing the property the site would be re-
furbished to provide a quantum of accommodation that would meet the 
current demand for temporary housing accommodation.

The meeting closed at 12.22 pm

CHAIRMAN

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Paul Claussen - Deputy leader & Executive Member for  
Governance

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 26th September 2019
Cabinet – 14th October 2019 

Author: Ross Bangs – Innovation, Change and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 1 2019/20 

Purpose: To provide members of the commission with an overview of the 
Council’s performance for the period 1st April 2019 –30th June 2019. 

1. BACKGROUND

The Quarter 1 2019-20 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 
Members, businesses and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing 
against a number of key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of 
frontline services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the 
overarching aims an objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.   

In addition the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance 
and also where performance is challenging. Where this is the case the report will 
summarise what officers are doing to address this.  

Members will note a revised Performance Monitoring Report, (Appendix A). The report 
has been amended to provide greater detail and increased narrative on how the 
Council is performing and how performance and service delivery links into the councils 
key corporate priorities. This report also includes a comparison against other like 
Councils where possible as well as the addition of predicted forecasted performance 
which is informed by trend and business intelligence analysis.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Recommendation

1)  Members of the commission are asked to note the content of the report

16

Agenda Item 7



1.3 Performance is reported using the RAG system with green demonstrating where an 
indicator is on or above target, amber where the indicator is below target but showing 
an upward trend and red where an indicator is below target. 

Indicator Quarter 1 19/20 Quarter 4 18/19
4 (28.57%) 3 (20%)
2 (13.33%) 2 (6.5%)
8 (53.33%) 6 (73.5%)

Members will note that within the new reporting year, there has been a reduction in the 
number of reportable Key Performance Indicators although the number of for data only 
measures has increased. 

2.0 AREAS OF SUCCESS

2.1 Within the last quarter the number of missed refuse collections has reduced and is 
within target. In total 99.8% of all scheduled collections were made and where missed 
collections were reported the council took on average 1.2 days to respond and rectify. 
In addition it is positive to note that the number of reported flytipping incidents within 
the district has fallen and continues to reduce month on month. 

2.2 The Councils ability to respond to complaints and freedom of information requests 
continue to improve with FOI response rates at the highest they have been within 
Breckland (95% of all requests responded to within 20 working days). By comparison 
the average East of England local authority response rate is 80%. The same applies 
for complaint response times with only 2 complaints not responded to within 15 days, 
93% against a target of 90% 

2.3 There has been a significant reduction in officer time lost through sickness in quarter 
1 with an average of 1.6 days lost per officer for this period. By comparison, there was 
2.2 days lost per officer when compared with the same period 12 months ago. This 
reduction can be attributed to the ongoing health and wellbeing initiatives being 
undertaken from the HR team in addition to the wider workforce strategy. 

2.4 The indicators which measure the percentage of minor and major planning applications 
being determined within time continues to perform strongly with 93% of all major 
applications being determined within 13 weeks or an agreed extension and 92.8% of 
all minor applications being determined within 8 weeks or within an agreed extension 
against targets of 70% and 80% respectively. 

3.0 AREAS REQUIRING IMPROVEMENT 

3.1     There has been a reduction in performance relating to the customer contact centre 
within quarter 1. Of the 30,919 calls received within this period, 84.1% were answered 
against a target of 90%. In addition the average wait time for a call to be answered has 
increased to 179 seconds. Analysis of this spike in performance has shown that a 
higher than predicted number of Council Tax enquires has been received within this 
period which are attributed to changes in universal credit. In addition, the average 
length of call time has increased by 50 seconds per call when compared with the same 
period 12 months ago and this is attributed to the types of calls being received in 
addition to officers marketing the Council’s online offer to customers who may choose 
this alternative for future interactions. 

17



 

3.2      The indicator which measures the number of empty properties brought back into use 
continues to underperform. Following the recent Housing Peer Review and associated 
service plan, there is a renewed focus in this area and intelligence gathering is currently 
underway to identify those long term empty properties which may be subject to further 
work with a view of making them available in the future. 

 

4.0 Additional Points

4.1 None

5.0 Options

5.1 Note the content of the report

5.2 Do nothing

6.0 Expected Benefits

6.1 The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will use the content of this report 
to identify areas of improvement. 

7.0 Implications 

7.1      Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.2   Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of             
the author that there are no implications. 

7.3      Constitutional and Legal

7.4   Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 
author that there are no implications. 

7.5      Contracts

7.6 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that 
there are no implications. 

7.7      Wards/Communities affected

7.8 No wards or communities are affected. 

7.9    Acronyms

7.10 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

18

file://bcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.uk/corporate_improvement_performance/Performance/Reports/BDC%20OSC%20Cabinet/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation & Performance 
Manager

Telephone Number: 07870835233
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross bangs – Corporate Innovation & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A 
Appendix B

Quarter 1 Performance Report
New Report – How to read guide

19

mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance TeamQ1 Performance Report

Performance Overview
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

B Y  S T A T U S

Red (28.57%)

Amber (14.29%)

Green (57.14%)

4

2

8

Performing/
Over-

Performing

Below Target
but showing

upward trend

 Under
Performing

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
OV E R V I E W

Missed Waste collection - Page 3
% of Complaints responded to
within time frame specified -
Page 6
Staff Sickness - Page 10
EHC Income - Page 12
Food businesses rated as '3' or
above - Page 12
Commercial Property Income
Major Planning apps
determined within 13 weeks or
agreed extension - Page 15
Minor Planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or
agreed extension - Page 15

% of calls answered  - Page 1
Average call wait times - Page 1
Empty properties brought back
into use - Page7
Staff Turnover - Page 10

P E R F O R M A N C E  B R E A K D O W N  I N D E X

% of FOIs responded to within
time frame specified - Page 6
Commercial Property
Occupancy - Page 13

20



Customer Engagement
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance TeamQ1 Performance Report

% OF CALLS
ANSWERED

84.1%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

21-30%

% OF CALLS ABANDONED

% OF CALLS ABANDONED

% OF CALLS ANSWERED

13

87

13.6

86.4

13.7

86.3

11.4

88.6

15.9

84.1

0

50

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of calls that are
answered from the total number of
calls taken. A higher % indicates
more calls answered.

FORECASTED
% OF CALLS
ABANDONED

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF CALLS
ANSWERED

87%

NUMBER OF
CALLS
RECEIVED

30,919

AVERAGE WAIT
TIME (IN
SECONDS)

179
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
1 5 0

Q2

180-230
Seconds

AVERAGE WAIT TIME (IN SECONDS)

AVERAGE WAIT TIME IN SECONDS

161
189

221

144
179

0

50

100

150

200

250

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the average waiting time
for phonecalls. A lower number
indicates less time for the call to be
answered.

FORECASTED AVERAGE
WAIT TIME IN
SECONDS

161
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
1 5 0

TARGET
AVERAGE WAIT
TIME

150
SECONDS

01
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  t o   o u r

r e s i d e n t s  w h o  c o n t a c t  u s  e i t h e r  t h r o u g h  o u r  t r a d i t i o n a l  o r  d i g i t a l

p l a t f o r m s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

% of calls answered
Average wait time 
Number of retweets
Social media engagement
Number of website visitors

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -AVERAGE
WAIT TIME (IN
SECONDS)

Page 1

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

21



Q1 Performance Report
Prepared by: Change, Innovation and

Performance Team
Page 2

Customer Engagement
continued
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

NUMBER OF
RETWEETS

248

SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

58%

NUMBER OF
SOCIAL MEDIA
ENGAGEMENTS

51,366

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

NUMBER OF
WEBSITE VISITORS

70,982
12%

TWITTER VS FACEBOOK LIKES (FOLLOWERS)

Twitter Facebook

4,129 4,207 4,217 4,411 4,438

2,265
2,562

3,228

3,834
4,353

Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Q1 19/20
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

CONTACT CHANNELS BY TYPE

Email (4.99%) Web Form (11.16%) Call (64.47%)

Face to Face (19.39%)

1,569
3,510

20,276

6,097

181%

Q1 has seen an increase in calls offered ( the highest
volume in last 12 months)
This has happened at a time when the service
is balancing staff holiday (which is managed very
closely) against more customer contacts (customers
at home with more time to contact us).
Further analysis has shown unseasonably high no’s
of Council tax enquiries (3525), due to more
reminders and summonses being issued by ARP
(partly linked to effects of Universal Credit)
 been training new staff to replace experienced staff
which restricts the types of calls they are able to
respond to in the first few months.

Longer term trends identified In addition to
increased call volumes is individual talk-time has
also increased by around 50 seconds compared to
2017/18. This is due both the shift in the types of
calls be received and also the fact that the team are
educating customers to do things online.

·The team is now servicing more channels of
communication than ever before, with the same
volume of staff compared to 12 months ago. For
example: Webchat went live in November 2018 with
volumes increasing from 50 webchats in October
2018 to 486 in July 2019.

Despite the recent increase in call waiting times
there is no evidence of a fall in customer satisfaction.
This year no complaints on ‘wait-time’ have been
received, so customers seem accepting of an average
wait time of 175 seconds (Jan-Jul). Customer
feedback, to date, suggests that residents are more
focused on the outcome of their call rather than how
long it takes to get through.

Ongoing/*future actions:
Regardless of the increase in contacts we are doing
everything we can to improve and maintain levels of
customer service. These include:
· Focusing training in quiet times
· Ensuring holidays are restricted in peak times
· Forecasting calls and plotting staff in the rota to
meet demands
· Offering overtime/flex to action e-mails and call-
backs
· Backfilling vacant posts/secondments in a timely
manner
· Working closely with other departments to
recognise influx of contacts
· Supporting the wellbeing of staff and customers
· *Customer Service Survey to launch in September

Moving forward and historically, calls are set to
decrease in the next few months which will help
performance, however, medium term we need to
recognise that performance can be challenging and
to continue with the development of digital
channels.

22



Environmental and
Community
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
MISSED WASTE
COLLECTIONS

25
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
2 5

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

18-24

MISSED WASTE COLLECTION LAST 4 QUARTERS

MISSED COLLECTIONS

14

19

13

29
25

0

10

20

30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the number
of missed collections per 100,000
people, a lower number is better for
this indicator as we look to ensure
fewer waste collections are missed

FORECASTED 
NUMBER OF
MISSED
WASTE
COLLECTIONS

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -NUMBER OF
MISSED WASTE
COLLECTIONS

14
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
2 5

% OF
SUCCESSFUL
COLLECTIONS
WITHIN THE
DISTRICT

99.8%

NUMBER OF
INCIDENTS OF
FLY-TIPPING

315

Q2

280-320

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number of incidents
of fly tipping. A lower number is
better for this indicator, as this
ensures fewer fly-tipping incidents
are happening within the district.

FORECASTED NUMBER
OF INCIDENTS OF FLY
TIPPING

337

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
FLY TIPS THIS
YEAR

315

02
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  t o  t h e

d i s t r i c t s  c o m m u n i t y  a n d  e n v i r o n m e n t ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r

c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Your Place"
How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Number of bins collected vs number of bins missed
Number of working days to deal with fly tipping
Number of incidents of fly-tipping
% of household waste recycled or composted
Average number of working days to deal with missed waste
Number of garden waste subscribers
Breckland Lottery (value awarded)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -NUMBER OF
WORKING DAYS TO
DEAL WITH FLY
TIPPING

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 3

FLY TIPPING INCIDENTS LAST 4 QUARTERS

FLY TIPS REPORTED

337

262 253

362
315

0

100

200

300

400

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

23



Environmental and
Community continued
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
INCIDENTS OF
FLY-TIPPING

315
SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

F L Y  T I P P I N G   B E N C H M A R K S

210

495

394

492

333

267

423

1,496

FLY TIPPING INCIDENTS LAST 4 QUARTERS

FLY TIPS REPORTED

337

262 253

362

315

0

100

200

300

400

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

12%

We have seen an increase in the number
of missed bins over the last two quarters,
Whilt is is difficult to fully pinpoint the
reason for this, the service is able to
identify an increased amount of vehicle
breakdowns which has seen some
delayed collections in the Dereham area.
Serco have produced an action plan
aimed at reducing the amount of missed
collections and this is expected to show
an improvement in the numbers next
quarter. Performance in this area along
with the action plan is monitored in
strategic partnership meetings with
SERCO.

% OF HOUSEHOLD
WASTE
RECYCLED OR
COMPOSTED

28.97%
1.2%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

Breckland

Bassetlaw

East Lindsey

Fenland

Newark and Sherwood

South Norfolk

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

Norwich

% OF HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLED OR COMPOSTED

RECYCLED (13.41%) COMPOSTED (15.52%)

RESIDUAL (71.07%)

13.4

15.5

71

AVERAGE NUMBER
OF WORKING DAYS
TO DEAL WITH
MISSED WASTE

1.2
DAYS

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 4

FLY TIPS REPORTED MONTHLY BREAKDOWN

FLY TIPS REPORTED

119
109

134 130
110

75

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN
0

50

100

150

A V E R A G E  N U M B E R  O F  F L Y  T I P P I N G
I N C I D E N T S  R E P O R T E D  F O R  E A S T  O F
E N G L A N D  L O C A L  A U T H O R I T I E S

24



Environmental and
Community continued
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
GARDEN WASTE
SUBSCRIBERS

21,351

NUMBER OF GARDEN WASTE SUBSCRIBERS

GARDEN WASTE SUBSCRIBERS

21,048 20,933 21,017 21,025 21,351

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

1.5%

BRECKLAND
LOTTERY (VALUE
AWARDED)

£9,761
10%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

BRECKLAND LOTTERY VALUE

VALUE AWARDED

7,713

14,799

22,918

10,709 9,671

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

NUMBER OF
SUBSCRIBERS
GAINED SINCE
Q4

303

S TA T I S T I C S

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 5

Revenue
generated since
launch (March
18)

£69,812
AVERAGE

SUBSCRIBER GAIN
PER MONTH

15

Garden Waste subscribers continue to
increase, with Q1 seeing an increase of
1.5% with a total of 21,351 subscribers.
This is in comparison to the 21,025
subscribers from Q4 and 21,048
subscribers from Q1 2018/19. Initial
data from Q2 suggests the subscriber
base will  continue to grow next quarter.

£9,671.40 has been raised for good
causes over Q1 of 2019/20. Current
Annualised projections for 'Good Cause'
funds raised by the lottery stand at £44,
241. £69,812 in revenue has been
generated to date since the lottery
launched in March 2018, with £41,887 of
that income going to Community
Organisations and Charitable 'Good
Causes'.

25



Information and
Feedback
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED TO
IN TIME

95%
TA RG E T  I S  1 0 0

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

95-100%

% OF FOI'S RESPONDED TO IN TIME

RESPONSES TO WITHIN TIMELIMIT

78
84 86

93 95

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of FOI's responded to
within the statutory 20 day
timescale.

FORECASTED
% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED
TO IN TIME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

78%
TA RG E T  I S  1 0 0

# OF FOIS DUE
RESPONSE

95

% OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO
IN TIME

93%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

Q2

91-96%

% OF COMPLAINTS RESPONDED TO IN TIME

RESPONDED TO WITHIN TIMESCALE

71
82

89 94 93

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number on the % of
complaints responded to within the
agreed timescale. The standard
timescale for a response in 15
working days unless an agreement
for an extension is made.

FORECASTED % OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

71% 46

03
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  f o r  t h o s e  w h o

w i s h  t o  s u b m i t  F r e e d o m  o f  I n f o m a t i o n  ( F O I )  r e q u e s t s  o r  c o r p o r a t e

c o m p l a i n t s  t o   u s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

% of Freedom of Information Requests (FOI's) responded to in time
% of complaints responded to in time
Number of complaints received
Number of FOI's received
Average response time to complaints

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 6

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

# OF
COMPLAINTS
DUE RESPONSE

26



Information and
Feedback continued
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
COMPLAINTS
RECEIVED

42

SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS CLOSED

COMPLAINTS CLOSED COMPLAINTS UPHELD

46

98

74

47 45

6 11 15 10 9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

7%

FOI response rates are at the highest
they have been within Breckland
district council,  in comparison the
average % of FOIs responded to within
the time limit for most local
authorities is around 80%. The same
applies for complaint response times
with only 2 complaints not responded
to within 15 days, these 2 complaints
required multiple services input and
collaboration to respond in the right
way.

NUMBER OF
FOI'S RECEIVED

80
14%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

AVERAGE
RESPONSE TIME TO
COMPLAINTS

15.8 Days
40%

42
Complaints

 received

80 FOI
request received

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 7

METHOD OF CONTACT FOR COMPLAINTS/FOIS

VIA WEB FORM (48.39%) VIA EMAIL (32.26%)

VIA LETTER (12.90%) VIA OTHER (6.45%)

15

104

2

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

84

106 100

45 42

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
0

50

100

150

27



Housing and
Homelessness
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

# OF CASES
PREVENTED
FROM
HOMELESSNESS

9

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

32-36

NUMBER OF CASES PREVENTED FROM HOMELESSNESS

CASES OF PREVENTION

44

34

45

9

0

10

20

30

40

50

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the the
number of cases received where
homelessness has been prevented

FORECASTED #
OF CASES
PREVENTED
FROM
HOMELESSNESS

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF CASES
PREVENTED FROM
HOMELESSNESS

44

NUMBER OF CASES
PREVENTED FROM
HOMELESSNESS
SINCE Q1

9

# OF EMPTY
PROPERTIES
BACK IN USE

0
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E   2 5

Q2

32-36

EMPTY PROPERTIES BACK IN USE

PROPERTIES BACK IN USE

61

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number number of
empty properties brought back into
use through direct intervention by
the council. A higher number means
more properties are being brought
back into use

FORECASTED # OF
PROPERTIES BACK IN
USE

61

# OF EMPTY
PROPERTIES
BACK IN USE
SINCE Q1

0

04
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  h o u s i n g  s e r v i c e s ,  w h i c h

w e  p r o v i d e  t o  o u r  r e s i d e n t s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e

p r i o r i t y "Your Place"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Number of cases prevented from homelessness
Number of empty properties back in use
% of Breckland residents who are homeless

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF EMPTY
PROPERTIES BACK IN
USE

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 8

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E   2 5

28



Housing and
Homelessness continued
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

% OF BRECKLAND
RESIDENTS WHO
ARE HOMELESS

0.12%

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

33%

The performance of empty homes brought
back into use by the council  continues to
under perform and this has been identified
within the service and following on from
the peer review actions have been
identified.

Resources have been a key issue for
prioritising empty homes in the past,  the
team is now up to full  capacity, and the
following actions are underway;

1. Team is working to Conduct intelligence
checks on known empty homes to identify
owners and secondary addresses,
2. Team will  Serve relevant notices on
properties and on owners secondary
address to ‘flush out responses’,
3. Once contact is made, offer support via
applicable grants if  owner engages,
4. On Non engagement - follow strict
enforcement procedures with zero
tolerance approach.

Each officer within the team has been set a
target to bring 5 empty homes back into
use, with a view to review targets once
officers are confident in dealing with such
cases.

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

# OF BRECKLAND
RESIDENTS WHO
ARE HOMELESS

171
16%

H O M E L E S S N E S S  F I G U R E S  C O M P A R I S O N

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 9

# OF CASES PREVENTED FROM HOMELESSNESS

NUMBER OF CASES

44

34

45

20

9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
0

10

20

30

40

50

48

121

105

25

29

15

42

Breckland

Boston

East Lindsey

Fenland

North Kesteven

South Kesteven

Lincoln

Amber Valley

Norwich

Kings Lynn

South Norfolk

North Norfolk

Forest

South Holland

47

24

36

59

35

119

93

Family/friends no longe.. (30.37%) Domestic abuse (10.63%)

Non-violent relationshi.. (9.59%) End of social rented tenancy (5.46%)

Eviction from supported.. (3.62%) End of private rented t.. (2.87%)

Other violence or harrassment (2.52%) Other reasons / not known (34.95%)

R E A S O N S  F O R  L O S S  O F  H O M E  I N
E N G L A N D  -  2 0 1 9  A N A L Y S I S

29



Employee Workforce
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

5.1
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
4 . 3

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

4.5-5.3%

STAFF TURNOVER (%)

STAFF TURNOVER

5.2 5.3
5.8

3.7

5.1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of staff turnover. This is
calculated by the total number of
leavers against the total number of
staff employed. A lower number
shows successful staff retention

FORECASTED
STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

5.2
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
4 . 3

NUMBER OF
LEAVERS IN THE
PERIOD

15

# OF WORKING
DAYS LOST TO
SICKNESS PER
FTE

1.6
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W  2

Q2

1.6-2.0
DAYS

WORKING DAYS LOST TO SICKNESS PER FTE

DAYS LOST PER FTE

2.21 2.2 2.32
1.88

1.63

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number on the
number of working days lost per
FTE (Full Time Equivalent). A lower
number shows less time lost to
sickness

FORECASTED # OF
WORKING DAYS LOST
TO SICKNESS PER FTE

2.2
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W  2

TOTAL NUMBER
OF WORKING
DAYS LOST TO
SICKNESS

446

05
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  o f f e r  t o  c o u n c i l

e m p l o y e e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Staff turnover
Number of working days lost to sickness per FTE (Full Time Equivalent)
Number of leavers
Number of days lost to sickness

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF
WORKING DAYS
LOST TO SICKNESS
PER FTE

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 10

30



Employee Workforce
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NUMBER OF LEAVERS

# OF LEAVERS

15 14

17

11

15

0

10

20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

Sickness is currently reporting at the
lowest figures we have seen in the last 4
quarters which is pleasing to note.

Turnover is slightly above target but at a
healthy level,  HR have not highlighted
any concerning trends or issues with
staff leaving the organisation, current
figures fall  in line with this time of year.

NUMBER OF STAFF
WHO HAD SHORT
TERM SICKNESS

24
36%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

Q1 REASONS FOR LEAVING

New Job (5.88%) Retiring (17.65%) Resigning (52.94%)

Other (11.76%) End of contract (11.76%)

5.6

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 11

NUMBER OF DAYS
LOST TO
SICKNESS

446.1
12%

NUMBER OF STAFF
WHO HAD
LONG TERM SICKNESS

36%

NUMBER OF DAYS LOST TO SICKNESS PER FTE

BRECKLAND

2.2 2.2 2.3
1.8 1.6

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
0

1

2

3

4

5

According to the most
recent Local Government
workforce survey the
average quarterly staff
turnover rate for local
authorities is 3.6%

TOTAL SICKNESS UK
LA AVERAGE (2.1
DAYS PER FTE)

31



Public Protection
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

06
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t i o n

s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Your Health and
Wellbeing"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

EHTC (Environmental Health Training & Consultancy) net income 
% of food businesses rated 3 or above
Number of food businesses within the district

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 12

EHTC NET
INCOME (£)

£32,000
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
£ 2 9 , 0 0 0

Q2

£33-38K

EHTC NET INCOME (£)

NET INCOME

£43,935£44,663

£35,000£33,000£32,000

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the net
income produced by EHTC. The
higher the number the more net
income generated

FORECASTED
EHTC NET
INCOME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -EHTC NET
INCOME (£)

NET INCOME
THIS FINANCIAL
YEAR

% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES
RATED 3 OR
ABOVE

98.1%

Q2

98-99%

% OF FOOD BUSINESSES RATED 3 OR ABOVE

% OF FOOD BUSINESSES

96.8 97.4 95.5 97.5 98

60

80

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the percentage of food
business rated 3 (generally
satisfactory) or above within the
district. A higher number means
more businesses are achieving this
standard

FORECASTED % OF
FOOD BUSINESSES
RATED 3 OR ABOVE

96.8%

NUMBER OF
BUSINESSES RATED
3 OR ABOVE

1,407
Out of
1,435

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES RATED 3
OR ABOVE

These indicators highlight the
number of registered food business
present within the district

TOTAL NUMBER OF
FOOD BUSINESSES
REGISTERED WITHIN
THE DISTRICT

% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES
RATED BELOW 3

CHANGE IN
REGISTERED FOOD
BUSINESS SINCE
LAST QUARTER

-451,435 1.96%

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 5 %

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
£ 2 9 , 0 0 0

£43,395
£32,000

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 5 %

32



Economic and Growth
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
GROSS RENTAL
INCOME(£)

£841,501

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

END OF Q4

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY GROSS RENTAL INCOME

GROSS RENTAL INCOME (£)

74,0186

133,805,3

208,439,3

270,422,0

847,501

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the gross
rental income generated by the
council's commercial property.  A
higher number shows increased
income from our assets.

FORECASTED
COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY GROSS
RENTAL
INCOME(£)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY GROSS
RENTAL INCOME(£)

£740,186

TARGET
INCOME BY END
OF FINANCIAL
YEAR

£2,805,178

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY

97%
TA RG E T  I S  9 8 %  O R
A B OV E

Q2

96-97%

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY OCCUPANCY

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY OCCUPANCY

91% 91% 91% 92%
97%

60

80

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the % of our commercial
units that are occupied. Target is to
achieve 90% occupancy level of the
Council's commercial property assets
which excludes operational
assets. Calculated by total floor space
let over the total lettable space.

FORECASTED # OF
NEW HOMES
DELIVERED

91%

TARGET
COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY

98%

07
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  a r e a s  r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  c o u n c i l s

e c o n o m i c  a n d  g r o w t h  s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e

p r i o r i t y "Your Oppurtunity"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Commercial Property gross rental income
New homes delivered
New homes completed
Wage levels
Unemployment levels

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 13

£2,927,178

TA RG E T  I S  9 8 %  O R
A B OV E

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY
LAST QUARTER

33



Economic and Growth
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

NEW HOMES
COMPLETED IN
17/18 (AS OF 2018
MONITORING
REPORT)

535

SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

Wage levels: Wage levels,  calculated
through gross weekly income, rose in
2018/19 to £498.3 from £452.2 in
2017/18. This accounts for a rise of 9.7%.
The average wage rise for authorities in the
East during this period was 2.6% and
nationally the average rise was 8.9%.
Despite these rises, Breckland still  remains
below the average wage levels for the East
(£590.3) and Great Britain (£571.1).

Unemployment: In Q1, unemployment
levels rose within Breckland, in
comparision with Q4. This accounted for a
0.1% increase in this period and a 0.5%
increase since Q1 of last year. Breckland
still  remains below the average
unemployment level for both the East and
nationally.

AVERAGE
BRECKLAND WAGE
LEVELS

£25,911

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

GROSS WEEKLY PAY (£)

BRECKLAND NATIONAL AVERAGE

460.8 452.2
498.3

647 663 687

16/17 17/18 18/19
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700

UNEMPLOYMENT
LEVELS

1,360
Norfolk avg is
1,594

UNEMPLOYMENT LEVELS OVER TIME

BRECKLAND ENGLAND AVG

EAST OF ENGLAND

3.6 3.7
3.5 3.6

3.3

4.3 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.1
3.7 3.6

3.8
3.5 3.4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2

4

5

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 14

Please note - Under Universal Credit a broader span of
claimants are required to look for work than under
Jobseekers Allowance. As Universal Credit Full Service is
rolled out in particular areas, the number of people
recorded as being on the Claimant Count is therefore
likely to rise.

Housing completions
breakdown as per
most recent annual
monitoring report

34



PLANNING PROVISION
Q1, 2019 |  APR - JUN

Q1 Performance Report

% OF MA JOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

93%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
7 0 %

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q2

90-95%

% OF MA JOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

% OF MAJOR APPLICATIONS

100
86

53

76

93

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1, 2019 
APR - JUN

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of planning applications
determined within time (13 weeks
or agreed extension). The higher the
number, the more agreed within this
period.

FORECASTED % OF
MA JOR PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED
WITHIN TIME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF MA JOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

100%

TARGET (%)

70%

% OF MINOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

92.8%

Q2

% OF MINOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

Planning Apps Determined in..

95
88 84

91 92

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the percentage of minor
planning applications determined
within time (8 weeks or agreed
extension). The higher the number
the more agreed within this period

FORECASTED % OF
MINOR PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

95.8%

TARGET (%)

80%

08
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  a r e a s  r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  c o u n c i l s

p l a n n i n g  s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y"Your Place"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is
measured by the following

% of major planning applications determined within time
% of minor planning applications determined within time

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF MINOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 15

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
8 0 %

85-95%
35



Page and Report title

Breakdown of the page
- What Data/PIs are being shown
- Which part of the corporate plan
they link into

Service area of the
council

Reporting Period

Performance
for the last year

Supporting figure which
goes into this performance
measure or works as part of
its calculation

Performance for this time
last year last year

Forecast based on
existing data and
trends as well as any
business intelligence
gathered which can
forecast this figure.

Description of
the Performance
measure, what
good looks like
etc.

Within the new reports there are 8 areas of performance which are
covered, each areas focuses on certain elements of the services we
provide. Each Area of Performance within the new reports is broken
down into two pages, the first page shows the key measures, these
traditional agreed measures are targeted and agreed by all levels of the
organisation to be key indicators of performance for the relevant areas.

Page 1

Quarterly Performance Reports

How to Understand
and what they show

36



Page 2 of each area within the report features different elements of data and
visual analytics which support and highlight performance/delivery within the
areas they represent, this is traditionally where the data only measures will be
featured along with other business intelligence and data provided by different
services and sources of data, this page is designed to add context and provide
more background and related info/analysis where it is useful.

Page 2

Where possible,
benchmark
analysis and
comparison
data to other
local authorities
will be provided
to provide the
audience with
an idea of how
our
performance
compares

Where relevant,
further context and
information will be
provided by the
report authors in
relation to key
performance and any
other areas to
highlight, this will
often be the case
where an area is
under performing
and further
explanation of this is
needed, or where an
area is performing
well and should also
be highlighted along
with any additional
points to note on
work that has been
undertaken or any
other key risks/issues
that need raising.

Data only
measures are
Performance
indicators that
whilst
informative and
useful do not
have an agreed
target and are
therefore still
monitored but
not highlighted
as "Key
Indicators"

37



% OF CALLS
ANSWERED

94.96%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 1 %

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Quarterly Performance Reports

How to Understand
and what they show

The below features a breakdown of the key indicators section
within the new performance reports, it will explain the colour
coding and percentage figures

Title of performance
measure highlighted

The colour of the square
represents the status of the
indicator, Green represents
on or above target, orange
represents slightly under
target, red represents
significantly below target
and white indicates this is a
data only measure and does
not have a target.

The figure is the current target
of this measure

This figure represents the change since last
quarter, the arrow represents in which
direction the figure has moved since last
quarter and if this change has moved in a
higher or lower direction.

38



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen- Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Governance 
Maxine O’Mahony-Executive Director-Strategy & Governance

To: OSC 26th September 2019
Full council 31st October 2019

Author: Susie Richardson, HR Manager

Subject: Honoraria Policy 

Purpose: To approve the new honorarium policy 

Recommendation(s): 

1)  That the honorarium policy is approved

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 We have had an honorarium and spot bonus policy which was last amended in 2007, the 
current policy has been put on hold to enable development of a new honoraria policy which 
is fit for purpose and reflects our current workforce.
   

1.2 We acknowledge that we need a mechanism to reward staff who take on additional duties 
which is not rewarded by an acting up payment or a formal secondment post for additional 
work outside of their current role and this reward needs to be consistent, assessed fairly 
and only given in exceptional circumstances.

1.3      The policy sets out the criteria under and by which, such payments may be made to 
           staff members as appropriate.

1.4      The intent of this policy is to motivate staff members by providing a fair return for  
           additional effort that is outside of the duties of their role

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve new honoraria policy

2.2 Remove any honoraria or spot bonus policy and have no mechanism for rewarding staff

2.3      To do nothing

3.0      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1      To reward staff where applicable in exceptional circumstances in a fair and consistent    
           Way

3.2      It is not supported to keep the current policy as it does not have clear parameters and is 
           not a fair way of rewarding staff

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

39

Agenda Item 8



           
4.1      Managers have a mechanism to reward staff which is fairly assessed 

4.2      The intent of this policy is to motivate staff members

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1  The scheme is entirely discretionary and does not form part of the contract of 
           employment.

5.2 Financial 

5.2.1 There is a current provision for this and this is proposed to remain the same

5.3 Staffing

5.3.1   The scheme is entirely discretionary and does not form part of the contract of 
            employment 

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1 None

5.5 Corporate Priorities

5.5.1    None

5.6      Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1   The pay decisions made are fair, equitable and transparent.

5.7      Risk Management

5.7.1  None

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susie Richardson, HR Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656844
Email: Susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

40



Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Non-Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A: Honorarium procedure

41



Honorarium Payments

1. Introduction

The Councils are committed to ensuring the fair and equitable reward of all of their staff 
members. To that end, it may be appropriate to make a one off payment to individuals to 
recognise additional duties taken on by a staff member which is not rewarded by an acting 
up payment or a formal secondment post.

The procedure sets out the criteria under and by which, such payments may be made to staff 
members as appropriate.

The intent of this procedure is to motivate staff members by providing a fair return for 
additional effort that is outside of the duties of their role. The scheme is entirely discretionary 
and does not form part of the contract of employment.

Any payments made to an staff member in any period is no guarantee that they will receive 
an honorarium payment in the future and is no indication of the level of honorarium that they 
might receive in any future honorarium payment period.

2.  Definition

Honorarium A one off, unconsolidated payment, between £100 and £500 
made to an staff member via the payroll, for undertaking a 
project or piece of work beyond that expected of the job role.

An honorarium payment is not:
- An acting up payment; which is awarded to a staff member 

for undertaking a proportion of a higher graded role
- A secondment:  when a staff member undertakes the full 

duties of a higher graded post for a period of time

3. Roles and Responsibilities

Manager/Team leaders responsibilities

Managers/ Team leaders are responsible for:
 Submitting nominations as appropriate;
 Complying with relevant legislation.

42



Executive Managers/Chief Officers responsibilities

Executive Managers/Chief Officers are responsible for:
 The consideration, and approval or rejection of all noinations made in adherance to 

the procedure set out below.

4. Statutory Application and, or Constitutional Requirement

Relevant legislation:
 Employment Rights Act 1996
 Equality Act 2010
 Working Time Regulations 1998 (SI 1998/1833)

5. Procedure

Eligibility

All staff members are eligible to be considered for an honorarium payment. They must be an 
employee of the organisation on the date on which the honorarium is considered.

Staff members will not be usually be considered eligible for the payment of honorariums 
while in a probationary period or if they are currently under an informal or formal performance 
improvement plan.

Payment of honorariums will normally be considered in the following circumstances:

 Where a staff member has performed duties beyond the scope of their own position 
without the benefit of other reward of remuneration in recognition of this;

 Where a staff member has undertaken particularly onerous duties in addition to those 
normally attributed to their position;

 Where duties performed by the staff member have resulted in a clear benefit to the 
council(s), which would not have been received without the staff member’s actions 
and those actions are not within the remit of their position;

Payment

Staff members shall receive payment of unconsolidated honorariums with their normal 
monthly salary payment. All such payments shall be subject to the relevant statutory 
deductions in operation at the time of payment i.e. tax/national insurance, pension.

Nomination & Approval

It is the responsibility of the relevant manager to submit nominations for an honorarium and 
recommendations as to the financial value, by completing the nomination form found in 
appendix 1.

All eligible staff members are subject to this honorarium scheme, there is no other scheme 
that applies to any staff groups to receive an honorarium.

All nominations must in the first instance be submitted to Finance for comment in light of 
available budget, before being provided to and considered by the relevant Executive 
Manager or Chief Officer, who shall approve or amend and approve the recommendations 
therein as appropriate.

43



Nominations that have approval from Finance and the relevant Executive Manager or Chief 
Officer will be submitted to HR for approval at the HR board. 

Requests will be considered at 2 points in the year and all Managers will be notified of the 
timescales for submission of nominations, these points will be in the months of September 
and February with payments to be made in Payroll in October and March.

6. Complaints or concerns
If an employee has a complaint or concern about the way in which their nomination has been 
dealt with, in the first instance they should raise this informally with their line manager or the 
HR department. 

7. Equal opportunities
In line with its equal opportunities and dignity at work policies, the organisation will take steps 
to ensure that this procedure is not used in a discriminatory manner. The organisation will 
take steps to ensure that employees' dignity is respected at all times.

44



Appendix 1 

Honorarium Nomination Form

Nominator Details

Name:

Position:

Directorate:

Date of nomination:

Nominee Details

Name(s):

Position(s):

Directorate:

Recommended bonus:

Justification:

45



Finance Comments

Name:

Position:

Date:

Comments:

Authorisation

Name:

Position:

Date:

Comments:

HR Board Approval

Outcome:

Date:

Comments:

46



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Robert Walker, Executive Director of Place 

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission, 26 September 2019

Author: Riana Rudland – Breckland Place Manager

Subject: Section 106 Briefing Note

Purpose: To inform Members of the process by which Section 106 (S106) funds are 
received, processed and released.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members note the contents of the report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 A Section 106 (S106) Agreement is a legal agreement under section 106 of the 1990 
Town & Country Planning Act. S106 agreements are legal agreements between a 
planning authority and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, 
that ensure that certain extra works related to a development are undertaken. The 
purpose of a S106 agreement is to mitigate the impact of a development on the local 
community and may require extra works to be undertaken or a financial contribution to be 
made.

1.2 As such, S106 Agreements often require a financial contribution to be made prior to a 
development starting or at a relevant trigger point during the development. S106 is 
charged based on the specific needs of the local community. For example, the Council 
might ask for a contribution to the local school if existing school places are limited, or a 
contribution towards a new community facility such as a village hall. In some instances 
contributions are broader such as a contribution for affordable housing which may or may 
not be tied to delivery in the immediate vicinity of the development. Where a contribution 
is required for services which fall under the remit of another authority (i.e County Council 
schools contribution) they will make their request for a contribution during the planning 
consultation process.

1.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (CIL Regs.) 2010 set out the basis on 
which S106 contributions can be requested. Section 122 of the Regulations states that an 
obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the 
development if the obligation is:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

(b) directly related to the development; and

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

This means that a Local Planning can only ask for a contribution that is directly related to 
mitigation for the development or to meet an evidenced policy requirement. Requesting 
bodies have to be able to demonstrate the need for an obligation as well as the nature or 

47

Agenda Item 9



amount of the obligation being requested. Monies can only be spent for the purpose(s) set 
out in the relevant S106 Agreement. 

1.4 Following a decision to grant planning permission at Planning Committee, the S106 
agreement is drafted by legal services (or an external legal firm) and is signed by the 
developer and the Council. Planning permission is granted subject to satisfactory 
completion of a S106 agreement. The S106 agreement contains relevant conditions that 
have been applied by the Committee through their decision to grant permission and 
because they are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. 

1.5 At Breckland, S106 funding receipts are held within the Finance Department. They hold 
records detailing the amount received, any conditions attached, a ‘spend by’ date if 
applicable as well as a copy of the agreement. Copies of this document are shared 
regularly with relevant parties (Housing and Planning).

1.6 The Planning Service is responsible for monitoring when S106 payments are due, 
checking completions and raising the appropriate invoice request to Finance. The S106 
officer within the Planning Service liaises with finance regularly to check that all income 
due has been raised and confirms the balances are still available to spend.  The S106 
officer also provides an update to town and parish councils each quarter, detailing the 
amounts available (excluding affordable housing).

1.7 Process to receive funds from a developer
The S106 officer sends a copy of the S106 agreement to finance and requests an invoice 
is raised. Finance code the funds appropriately and add indexation if appropriate. The 
funds are then effectively ring-fenced for the purposes set out in the S106 agreement.

1.8 Process to spend S106 funds
As the funds are held within budget, and are for a specific purpose, no actual authority is 
required to spend providing they are spent in accordance with the legal agreement. 
However, for transparency, the S106 Officer produces a blue form report and gets a 
decision recorded and published. These decisions are signed off by the Executive Director 
of Place and the Executive Member for Growth. This decision is accompanied by a 
finance Proforma B which confirms the funds are available and the terms on which they 
are being released. Once the decision is published, the Finance Team liaise with the S106 
officer to get the payment made to the relevant body.

1.9 Process to apply for S106 funds
Towns and Parish Councils, as well as other groups can apply to the Council for funds 
that are available to spend in their area. Appendix A sets out the funds currently available 
in each of the wards and any restrictions that are in place for those funds as set out in the 
legal agreement. To apply for funds Town and Parish Councils and other groups need to 
complete an application form (attached for info in Appendix B) completing details of their 
proposal, what they are seeking funds for, the benefits associated with their proposal, 
costings and how they meet any conditions outlined in the S106 agreement. They also 
need to provide suitable evidence of how their proposal will be delivered and how funds 
will be managed. 

1.10 Once an acceptable proposal has been received with accompanying evidence, the 
application is processed by the S106 officer and a 7-14 day consultation is undertaken 
which includes contacting 2 additional members of the Parish Council.  Once the 
consultation deadline has expired, the report, the blue form and Proforma B are produced 
for sign off. Once the decision has been made and the call in period has expired, funds 
can then be released. The Town or Parish Council or other group is then responsible for 

48



ensuring that they submit evidence that the funds released have been spent in line with 
the approved proposal. Failure to do so could result in the Council claiming back funds. If 
a Town or Parish Council or other group undertakes a project before they have an 
agreement to fund in place with the Council, they do so at their own risk. There is potential 
therefore that a retrospective application could be rejected if it doesn’t fully comply with 
the terms of the agreement or if funds had already been released to another party for a 
compliant proposal.

1.11 Transfer of Land
Where a S106 agreement requires the developer to provide open space or amenity land as 
part of the development, the Council will determine whether they wish for that land to be 
managed by a management company, be transferred to the District Council or to be 
transferred to another party such as the Town or Parish Council. Often open space will be 
provided alongside a commuted sum which is intended to be used for the maintenance and 
upkeep of the land. Where land is to be passed on to a Town or Parish Council (with their 
agreement), the commuted sum is also passed with the legal process of the land transfer.

1.12 Variation of S106 and enforcement
On occasions, developers may apply to the Council to vary a S106 agreement. This may 
be due to the viability of the development or because circumstances have changed. Where 
the request relates to a reduction in affordable housing contributions based on the viability 
of a scheme the Council seeks an independent viability assessment of the scheme to 
determine if the S106 should be varied. In other instances, variations have occurred where 
Town or Parish Councils have made requests for alternative contributions which the 
developer is content to provide. An example of this might be a piece of land which is to be 
provided as a wild flower meadow as part of the development, where the Parish feels that a 
grassed area would be of more benefit to the local community. The S106 could be varied in 
this case with the agreement of the developer and the Council. If a developer is in beach of 
their obligations under a S106 agreement the Council may have the ability to undertake 
enforcement action.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Note the contents of the report.

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This report is for information only.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To  raise awareness of the process by which S106 funds are agreed, held, processed and 
released.

4.2 To inform members of the funds currently held by the Council and the conditions attached 
to them.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

49



Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal
5.1.1 A S106 is a legal agreement between a Developer and the Council. This report is for 

information only.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 This report is for information only and contains no legal implication.  However financial 

information regarding S106 funds are contained in Appendix A. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 S106 – Section 106

Background papers:- N/A

Lead Contact Officers
Name and Post: Riana Rudland – Breckland Place Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656300
Email: riana.rudland@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Name and Post: Simon Wood – Director of Planning and Building Control
Telephone Number: 01362 656805
Email: simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A S106 funds spreadsheet
Appendix B Application form for S106

50

mailto:riana.rudland@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROJECT 
 

Please either type or write clearly in black ink 
 

A. CONTACT DETAILS 

Name of Applicant Organisation 

 
 

Main Contact for this Organisation 
This must be someone who knows about the project and can be easily contacted 

 
 

B. PROJECT DETAILS 

1. Title of Project 

 

Name: 
 
 
Address: 

 
 
Telephone: 

Day: 

Evening: 

E-mail: 
 
 
What kind of a group are you? (eg. Parish Council, Voluntary Group) 

Who will manage and monitor the project? 

7051



 

2. Please describe your Project 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please continue on a separate sheet if needed (No more than 2 sides of A4) 

71 52



 
 

3. How have you consulted with local people about the project? (i.e. Village Appraisal results, 
local consultation events with young people, letters of support etc). Please attach any supporting 
information for this question. 

 
 
 

4. What age groups is this project intended for?  ( Please estimate numbers) 
 

0-5  
 
6-10   
 
11-16 
 
17+ 

5. Project Outcomes.  Briefly describe what difference your project will make by listing up to 
five proposed outcomes 

 

1. 
 
 
 
2. 

 
 
 
3. 

 
 
 
4. 

 
 
 
5. 

7253



 
6. Do you need planning permission for your project? (Please tick) Yes  No 
(If yes, please state the stage you are at in terms of applying for planning permission) 

 

6a. Where will your project be located? Please provide a site plan as an appendix! 
 

6b. Do you own/lease the land?  Please state the terms that the land is available to you, e.g. 
freehold, leasehold etc 

 

6c. How will you fund the ongoing costs relating to your project once a grant has been 
made?  Please list your principal costs e.g. inspections/Insurance/safety  checks/grounds 
maintenance/replacement  equipment etc 

 

6d. Have you consulted the Police Architectural Liaison Officer for advice?  Yes          No 
( Please send us a copy of the report. For contact details please see the guidance notes) 

73 54



 
 

C. FINANCE 

Is the recipient organisation able to re-claim VAT?        Yes          No  
 

Expenditure :Give details of the costs of your project 
It is important that you give an accurate estimate based on actual quotes.  Please attach a copy of 
the quote received. 

Item Amount(£) 
  
  
  
  

Project Total
 

£ 

 
 
Please tell us if you have any additional funding to put towards this project 
 

Organisation Amount(£) 
  
  
  
  

Total Additional Funding
 

£ 

 
Total funding requested    £ 

 

I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the information given on this application 
form and in any supporting material is correct. I understand that you may ask for additional 
information at any stage of the application process. I have read and understood the guidance 
notes. 

 
Project title:.................................................................................................................. 

 
Signature: ..................................................................................................................... 

 
Name of  signatory:    ....................................................................................................... 

 
Position of  signatory:.................................................................................................... 

 
Date:............................................................................................................................ 

7455



 
 
 

 
 
 

Please return completed form: Charlotte Brennan 

Breckland Council 
Elizabeth House 
Walpole Loke 
Dereham 
Norfolk 
NR19 1EE 

 
For Office Use Only: Date received  .................... Grant £ 

75 56



Amount Received
Invoiced - Pending 

Receipt

S106 Affordable Housing with conditions

Available for Affordable Housing in Beetley, Gressenhall, Longham, Mileham, Swanton Morley, North Elmham 

and Dereham

55,651.00 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 205,970.00 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 27,897.87 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 12,606.33 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 31,913.60 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 200,262.51 

Will be earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project when received 117,265.82 

Will be earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project when received 8,989.39 

Total S106 affordable housing with conditions 534,301.31 126,255.21 

S106 Affordable Housing No Conditions

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 80,000.00 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 19,400.00 

Will be earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project when received 65,941.97 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 6,330.92 

Earmarked for Temporary Accomodation Project 62,715.00 

Total S106 affordable housing no conditions 168,445.92 65,941.97 

Grand Total S106 affordable Housing 702,747.23 192,197.18

Amount Received
Invoiced - Pending 

Receipt

S106 Open Spaces No conditions

No spend by date 9,980.00 

Must be spent on SAM2 vehicle road sign by Ashill Parish Council 4,568.93 

Total S106 open space no conditions 14,548.93 0.00 

S106 Open Spaces With Conditions

Spend by July 2022 - Attleborough 9,152.00 

Spend by November 2023 - Attleborough 46,694.84 

Spend by September 2020 - Attleborough 7,101.28 

Spend by July 2021 - Attleborough 21,346.65 

Spend by January 2023 - Attleborough 34,017.48 

Spend by September 2026 - Attleborough 154,369.00

Spend by September 2024 - Attleborough 2,031.58

Spend by September 2024 - Attleborough 6,194.83

Spend by January 2020 - Croxton 3,287.13 

Spend by February 2023 - Dereham 7,855.65 

Spend by March 2023 - Dereham 12,501.30 

Spend by August 2024 - Dereham 6,672.38 

Spend by December 2020 - Dereham Railway 15,340.91

Spend by January 2022 - Garvestone 1,162.89 

Spend by September 2020 - Garvestone 1,120.00

Spend by July 2021 - Garveston 1,120.00

Spend by May 2020 - Harling 23,904.38 

Spend by May 2028 - Little Dunham 6,728.13 

Spend by March 2024 - Necton 14,650.98 

Spend by February 2021 - North Pickenham 7,560.00 

Spend by November 2019 - Shipdham 4,059.86 

Spend by December 2019 - Swaffham 171,231.40 

Spend by May 2020 - Thetford 1,934.72 

No spend by date - Thetford 15,000.00 

Spend by March 2020 - Thetford 12,110.28 

Pending Receipt - Thetford 15,120.00 

No spend by date - Thetford 1,120.00 

Spend by March 2020 - Watton 13,440.00

Spend by November 2019 - Watton 4,480.00 

Spend by July 2022 - Watton 13,034.94 

Spend by July 2022 - Watton 52,655.96 

Spend by July 2022 - Watton 49,575.81 

Spend by July 2022 - Watton 22,896.10 

Spend by December 2020 - Watton 240.00

Spend by December 2020 - Watton 21,840.00

Spend by January 2022 - Caston 2,835.73 

Spend by April 2024 - Swanton Morley 3,982.53 

Spend by August 2024 - Litcham 4,403.73 

Spend by August 2024 - Saham Toney 41,568.05 

No spend by date - East Harling 1,625.51 

No spend by date - New Buckenham 480.00 

No spend by date - Blo Norton 1,120.00 

No spend by date - Blo Norton 1,400.00 

No spend by date - Garvestone 1,120.00 

No spend by date - Garvestone 1,505.00 

Total S106 open space with conditions 826,471.03 15,120.00 

Grand Total S106 open space 841,019.96 15,120.00 

Summary of S106 funding Held as at August 2019

57



Amount Received
Invoiced - Pending 

Receipt

Healthcare with Conditions

Spend by January 2024 - Campinglands Sugery, Swaffham 35,489.00

Total Healthcare with conditions 35,489.00 35,489.00

GRAND TOTAL 1,579,256.19 242,806.18

58



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2019/20
This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme 2019-2020

Date Topic Member / Director / Lead Officer

26 September 2019 Quarterly Performance Report - Q1 Ross Bangs
Honoraria and Spot bonuses Susie Richardson 
Breckland Bridge Extension Ralph Burton
How Section 106 Monies are used Riana Rudland & Simon Wood
Breckland's Approach to Environmental Issues - 1 Richard Boole/Andrew Grimley

07 November 2019 Governance and Policy around surplus land disposal Ralph Burton
Report/update on where we currently provide district council leisure facilities and
support with other providers - budget and forward plan Mark Robinson/Steve James
Performance Report Q2 Ross Bangs

Constitution Mark Stinson/Sarah Barsby/Jacqui Berridge
Smoke Free Council Susie Richardson
To consider holding a Task and finish Group to look into the Housing Strategy. Query
establish T & F Gp

Hannah Hooks

Market Town Initiative and how it has impacted opportunities and
how it is measured. Steve James/Rob Walker

19 December 2019 Local Plan and the National Policy Framework. Simon Wood
Sustainable development in local communities
Query establishing task and finish group on planning (or aspects)
Gordon Bambridge - update on planning, current projects and local plan Simon Wood
Shop appy update Steve James
Draft Budget Setting Alison Chubbock
Breckland Lottery - Report Finding Steve James/Stefan Clifford

06 February 2020
To review Capita contract and to understand the process of how
  what was the process for revising or reviewing local list. Rob Walker/Simon Wood

59

A
genda Item

 14



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2019/20
This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

Commercial Assets Property Portfolio and other commercial
 income streams Ralph burton and Richard Hodgson
Performance Report Q3 Ross Bangs
Gender Pay Gap Report Susie Richardson
Calculation of how the Council has arrived at the 5 year land supply
as it would be useful and affected all our rural communities Simon Wood
Planning Application validation Simon wood
To seek an update from the Flagship Task and finish Group. Hannah Hooks
Neighbourhood planning. How does Breckland support local groups in developing
plans

Simon wood

Paul Hewett - focus on council's contract list, major contracts Richard Shephard

19 March 2020 Alison Webb - focus on housing and environment Hannah Hooks and Steve James
Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy (mins 27/9/18) Paul Claussen and Steve James
Corporate Plan update - are we meeting targets/flexibility to amend? Ross Bangs and Phil Adams
Community Grant Funding Scheme. Steve James
Highways
PCC External
NCC head of waste report
Flytipping
Unsightly Sites Riana and Steve James

20 April 2020 Ian Sherwood - customer engagement Sarah Barsby
Sam Chapman-Allen - update to Commission
Performance Report Q4 Ross Bangs and Phil Adams
Cabinet Phil Cowen, Paul Claussen,
Empty Homes Hannah Hooks

Treasury Management - report and questions focussing on risk and reward and
investment Alison Chubbock

60



Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2019/20
This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

61



1

KEY DECISION PLAN

VERSION 09/19

Issued – 
Effective for Period:
 01/09/19 - 31/08/20

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision is likely to be made, to:  
Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.

Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all key and significant decisions that are likely to be made over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is expected to be made.  .

Key Decision – means a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to 
result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any single financial year above the capital expenditure threshold or the revenue 
expenditure threshold currently laid down by the Council.
Significant Decision -: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-
Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, 
particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Deputy Leader & 
Executive Member 
for Corporate 
Strategy and 
Investment

Hybrid Mail - To 
Award a Contract

To award a contract via a procurement exercise for the 
provision of printing, enveloping and mailing of annual, ad-hoc 
billing and other Revenues & benefits documents

Hybrid Mail - To 
Award a Contract

Executive Director of Strategy & 
Governance

62

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


2

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Executive Member 
for Growth

Kingsfleet 
Sustainable Urban 
Extension Thetford 
- Acceptance of 
Housing 
Infrastructure Fund

A report to consider the acceptance of HIF funding to support 
the delivery of the Kingsfleet Sustainable Urban Extension, 
Thetford

See report Kingsfleet 
Sustainable Urban 
Extension Thetford - 
Acceptance of 
Housing 
Infrastructure Fund

Council 19 Sep 2019

Executive Member 
for Growth

Adoption of the 
Breckland Local 
Plan

To adopt the Local Plan following the conclusion of the 
Examination in Public.

See report Adoption of the 
Breckland Local Plan

Council 19 Sep 2019

Executive Member 
for Growth

Grant Acceptance - 
Rough Sleeper

To accept rough sleeper funding and spend in line with officers 
proposals and grant conditions.

See report Grant Acceptance - 
Rough Sleeper

Council 31 Oct 2019

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member 
for Governance

Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & 
Polling Stations 
Review

Formal review in accordance with the Representation of the 
People Act 1983 & the Review of Polling Districts, Polling 
Places (Parliamentary Elections) Regulations 2006.

See report Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & 
Polling Stations 
Review

Council 31 Oct 2019

63



3

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Executive Member 
for Finance and 
Growth

Treasury 
Management 
Policy and Strategy 
2020-21

The report outlines the Council's Prudential Indicators for 
2020-21 to 2023-24 and sets out the expected treasury 
operations for this period and requests approval for the 
Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and Prudential 
Indicators for 2020-21 to 2023-24.

See report Treasury 
Management Policy 
and Strategy 2020-21

Governance & Audit Committee 12 Dec 
2019

Executive Member 
for Finance and 
Growth

Budget Setting, 
medium term plan 
and capital strategy 
2020-21

To consider the capital and revenue budget estimates and 
proposed Council Tax, the financial medium term plan and the 
capital strategy

See report Budget Setting, 
medium term plan 
and capital strategy 
2020-21

Council 27 Feb 2020

Executive Member 
for Finance and 
Growth

Council Tax Setting 
2020-21

To set the amounts of council Tax applicable for 2020-21 for 
each valuation band and in each part of the district

See report Council Tax Setting 
2020-21

Council 27 Feb 2020

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.
Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

64

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Paul Hewett, Executive Member for Contracts & Assets

To: Cabinet 14 October 2019
Council 31 October 2019

(Author: Ralph Burton, Strategic Property Manager)

Subject: Review continuation of the Breckland Bridge property development joint 
venture partnership.

Purpose: This report provides information to allow Members to decide if the Council 
should continue the Breckland Bridge property development joint venture 
partnership after assessing the previous phase of the partnership and the 
business plan for the future phase.

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to consider the continuation of the Breckland Bridge partnership 
on the basis of the content of the proposed changes and future business plan as outlined 
in this report.

Cabinet is asked to approve either Option 1 or Option 2 as follows: 

Option 1 – Continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture vehicle and 
in doing so:

a) Issue an Extension Notice (on the basis of the terms set out in this report) to the 
Land Group LLP to continue the partnership per the Shareholders Agreement.

b) To continue the Leader of the Council as the nominated Shareholder 
Representative and to undertake all necessary shareholder decisions except for the 
approval of the business plan annually which is delegated to Cabinet.

c) To continue the existing governance arrangements and in doing so:
(i) Delegate all the relevant shareholder consent matters to the Shareholders 
Representative.
(ii) Delegate the appointment (and any subsequent removals or re-appointments) 
of: 

- the Officer Director to the Chief Executive.
- the External Director to the Shareholder Representative.
- the Member Director to the Shareholder Representative.

(iii) Indemnify the Council’s appointed Directors from personal liability.

d) To continue the appointments of the current Breckland Council appointed 
Directors to Breckland Bridge until changed by either the Chief Executive or 
Shareholder Representative (as per c) above.

         Option 2 - As per Option 1 above with the addition of:

e) Approve the additional small site project delivery.

65

Agenda Item 16



Subject to Cabinet approval of either Option 1 or 2 above RECOMMEND TO FULL 
COUNCIL that:

a) The new business plan be agreed as outlined in summary in Table 3 of the report.

b) The financial requirements of the business plan be agreed and delegate the S.151 
Officer to undertake any related ancillary matters in order to implement the 
recommendations of this report and amend the capital and revenue budgets and any 
other on-going expenditure and release of funding including the following:

(i) Award loans in accordance with the Council’s adopted Treasury Management 
Policy.

(ii) Release up to £20,000 for the legal fees to undertake the legal due diligence 
and extension documentation.

(iii) Provide the funding and approval of the provision of the client support post.

1.0 BACKGROUND   

1.1 In 2014 the Council procured a partner with the necessary property and development 
skills and experience to create a long term joint venture strategic partnership.  The 
original reasons were to use the Council’s property assets to:

 Secure a step change in the financial contribution of the existing land asset base.
 Accelerate growth in the District. 
 Provide a vehicle to enable important projects to proceed (Riverside).
 Provide a vehicle for Regeneration – a positive “place changing” impact.

1.2 The resulting private-public partnership, Breckland Bridge Ltd (formed in 2015) was set 
to achieve this by the development and regeneration of land and property owned by the 
Council predominantly in the Breckland area under a the following vision: To use 
Breckland Council’s property and land assets to make a positive contribution to the 
regeneration and economic development of the Breckland district.

 
1.3 The Council created a bespoke version of an asset backed vehicle and opted for a 

smaller and local partner and also limited the activity of the partnership to three projects 
(see Table 1 below) in the first phase.  Setting up and being a partner and shareholder 
in Breckland Bridge Ltd was a new concept for the Council and it has been a new way of 
working.  It is not a traditional outsourcing contract and as a joint venture it requires joint 
working and joint decision making. The legal governance framework of the partnership 
(the shareholders agreement) is complex and the Council has had to adapt to its role as 
a shareholder in the joint venture amalgamating this into its local authority role.  

1.4 During the initial business plan period, 2015 to 2020, the Council has owned 90% of the 
company and the private sector partner, Land Group LLP has owned 10%.  This is 
different to a standard asset backed vehicle approach where typically the shareholdings, 
risk share, funding split and profit share are split equally 50/50.  The intention was/is to 
move to a typical 50/50 arrangement at the 5th year anniversary. 

1.5 Breckland Bridge was/is anticipated to be long term partnership and the legal 
documentation is designed to support this with a review at this 5th year anniversary.  At 
the outset three tests were designed to support this decision at this review point.  These 
tests have been passed (see Table 3 below).  On the basis that the tests have passed at 
this review point, if the Council decides not to continue (Option 3) there needs to be a 
sound commercial basis to support this decision (Option 3). 

66



1.6 Table 1 outlines what has been achieved against what was expected at the outset. 

Table 1 - Expectations and Achievements

Expected Achieved / Performance
 A joint venture based on 90/10 

shareholding in favour of the Council.
 A joint venture based on 90/10 

shareholding in favour of the Council.
 A 20 year agreement with a decision to 

continue at the 5th anniversary (to allow 
both parties to test the partnership).

 A long term (20 year) agreement subject 
to an extension review at the 5th 
anniversary.

 Vision: To use Breckland Council’s 
property and land assets to make a 
positive contribution to the regeneration 
and economic development of the 
Breckland district.

 Breckland Council’s assets were/are being 
used in the three initial projects as outlined 
below and development at these sites 
has/will regenerate these sites.

 3 initial projects:
 Riverside leisure scheme – 40,000 

sq ft leisure space regenerating part 
of Thetford town centre.

 Mileham housing scheme – 11 new 
homes built, completed and sold – 
with a surplus of £162k and land 
receipt of £83k.

 Chapel Rd housing scheme – 12 
new homes and surplus of £151k 
and land receipt of £143k.

 3 initial projects:
 Riverside leisure scheme – 40,000 sq 

ft leisure space - built and developed 
on time / budget and part of Thetford 
town centre regenerated.

 Mileham housing scheme – 14 new 
homes built, completed and sold – 
with a surplus of £189k and land 
receipt of £75k.  Plus 4 dwellings 
transferred to Council at for shared 
ownership.

 Chapel Road housing scheme – 10 
new homes, planning permission 
achieved.  Forecast surplus of £114k 
and land receipt of £215k.

 Cash return - £460k from land sales, 
fees & interest. 

 Repayment of working capital (£270k) 
and working capital interest of £57k.

 Forecast cash return - £580k from land 
sales, fees & interest.

 Repayment of working capital (£270k) and 
working capital interest of £164k if 
extension agreed (By end of year 7 (year 
2 of extension)

 Local Plan residential allocations for 
Banham site (44 units), Kenninghall site 
(15 units).

 Planning permissions for residential 
change of use for Gressenhall (1 unit), 
Colkirk (21 units), Litcham (16 units).

 Supported property development advice, 
guidance and reports on over 20 different 
schemes / properties.

67



1.7 Table 2 outlines the lessons learnt from the previous phase and the relevant changes in 
response for the next period of the partnership.

Table 2 - Lessons Learnt and Changes Required

Lessons Learnt Changes Required
 This is a modest arrangement that will 

not significantly accelerate growth for the 
district.  This is in part because it is 
limited in its capacity to develop only 
Council owned assets.  This has been 
revisited and checked with procurement 
advice.

 New financially focused vision (rather than 
regeneration / growth focused): To use 
Breckland Council’s property assets and 
reserves to create positive financial return.

 The overhead (corporate) costs have 
been high compared to the overall 
surplus from the first business plan.  This 
is in part due to the limited activity in the 
first phase.  However the overhead costs 
have been appropriate in comparison to 
the market.

 A leaner joint venture with reduced 
overhead costs to allow the partnership to 
focus on projects with certainty of delivery. 

 Reduction in corporate fees and an 
increase in project fees presented as an 
alternative.  This is a greater risk for Land 
Group as fee payment is based on project 
delivery – instead of standard fees from 
working capital.

 Communications activity from the 
Council’s involvement in Breckland 
Bridge has not always met Council 
expectations.

 Land Group recognise the need for the 
Council to be proactive regarding external 
communications regarding its involvement 
in the joint venture.  Therefore a major 
part of the Breckland Bridge 
communications budget is to be removed 
and Breckland Bridge to support the 
Council on the PR / communications 
activity the Council needs to derive from 
the joint venture.

 To enable success the joint venture has 
required more client (officer) support 
than expected and this is unsustainable 
in the long term.

 To ensure success, funding released to 
provide the necessary internal client 
resources to coordinate and manage the 
Council’s interest in this joint venture.

 Economical basis for sharing risk and 
rewards is acceptable, however moving 
forward a more equitable split (as 
originally anticipated) will share risk and 
reward more equally.

 Baseline 50/50 shareholding split 
(therefore 50/50 risk and reward) – but 
with flexibility for Council to add up to 
maximum of 70% funding to improve pace 
of delivery if required.

 Little ability to progress direct 
development of small sites because 
capacity prioritised and absorbed on 
larger schemes. 

 Opportunity to progress disposal of small 
sites (before or after planning permission) 
rather than direct development to churn 
receipts more quickly.

 The partners have further financial 
capacity which can be increased (to a 
cap).

 Ability to have larger business plan with 
greater number of schemes as proposed 
in the new business plan.

 Opportunity to progress disposal of small 
sites (before or after planning permission) 
rather than direct development to churn 
receipts more quickly.

 Flexibility to add projects i.e. if significant 
project occurs and requires delivery.

68



 Additional positive changes: 
 Removal of annual standard property 

review but with flexibility to add this in 
as required therefore not losing the 
ability to obtain advice, guidance and 
expertise on an ‘as requested’ basis 
which has been a key benefit over the 
initial period.  

 The exclusivity of assets removed 
allowing Council flexibility to dispose 
or use assets for other projects i.e. 
community related activity.

1.7.1 Generally Land Group report a positive partnership experience so far with the Council 
and the relationship is working well.

  
1.7.2 The outcome of the above changes in Table 2 is a more focused joint venture creating a 

greater number of delivery projects resulting in better derived value.

1.7.3 The following table summarises the results of the partnerships tests that were 
undertaken as part of the due diligence to review the condition and performance of the 
partnership.  This is a ‘one-off’ test to be undertaken at this review point.

Table 3 – Partnership Tests – Summary Outcome

 Partnership Extension Tests:
 Performance: Overall performance and outputs to date from the joint venture has 

suggested it has been a success with the two completed projects.  There is no 
reason to suggest that this will not be repeated with the final project which is yet to 
be completed.

 Provision of new satisfactory business plan: A financial model of the next 6 year 
business plan has been received and analysed and provides a satisfactory positive 
financial return.  

 Partner covenant strength: The partner has sufficient financial standing to meet 
the financial obligations proposed by the new business plan.  Cash flow 
requirements will need to be reviewed at each project approval to ensure that the 
cumulative impact of projects and sensitivities do not expose either partner to an 
unaffordable cash flow or excess risk.

1.8 Table 4 outlines the content of the next business plan with the relevant risks if the joint 
venture is continued (Option 1 or 2 of this report).  The next business plan currently only 
covers a period of 6 years.  Therefore new projects will be added to the business plan to 
cover the remaining period of the partnership (4-5 years) unless at that point the 
partners agree to cease.  

Table 4 – Future Business Plan and Opportunities / Risks

Future Business Plan
 The next 6 year business plan is forecast 

to include the following:
 Projects / Activity:

 Chapel Road, Attleborough, land – 
10 unit residential scheme with full 
planning permission.

Opportunities and Risks
 There is the potential to gain value from 

the Council’s assets and generate cash 
returns of c.£2m-£3m but the Council will 
need to commit significant temporary cash 
to the joint venture on a rolling basis over 
the life of this arrangement which will then 

69



 Whissonsett Road, Colkirk, land – 
21 unit residential scheme and 
public open space with outline 
planning permission secured.

 Wellingham Road, Litcham, land – 
16 unit residential scheme and 
public open space with outline 
planning permission secured.

 Chapel Street, Shipdham, land – 36 
unit residential scheme and public 
open space with outline planning 
permission submitted.

 Powell Close, Kenninghall, land – 15 
unit residential scheme with Local 
Plan allocation secured.

 Gaymer Close, Banham, land – 44 
unit residential scheme with Local 
Plan allocation secured. 

 Outputs:
 New homes – 142.
 All loans repaid.
 Potential cash return of £2.5m from 

interest on loans, fees and land sales.
 Enhanced by a further £592k if small 

sites additional activity is agreed (Option 
2 of this report).

 Financial Requirement:
 Cash commitment average of £2m over 

business plan period through loans (up 
to £2.5m).

not be available for other opportunities 
should they arise. 

 Income and expenditure is affected by a 
range of risks including:
 Construction costs increase.
 Sales income decreases.
 Interest rates rise.
 Achievement of planning permissions.
 Delays.
 One or both partners have insufficient 

cash to support the programme of 
works.

 Disagreements occur.
 Returns are affected if risks occur outside 

of forecast range.
 Disputes are managed through the legal 

documentation.
 A break clause exists at the 10th and 15th 

anniversary.
 Key controls include:

 Projects can be delivered in phases.
 There is a two stage project approval 

process before a project is started so 
there are checkpoints to confirm risks 
and financial exposure.

 Land is valued independently before 
being sold and transferred to the 
company.

 The company tenders construction 
contracts.

 There is a refresh of the business 
plan annually to review progress and 
outturn.

 Each partner appoints directors and 
there are quarterly company board 
meetings to review performance.

 If the joint venture has to pause activity for 
any reason there are standstill overhead 
costs of £66k pa of the company and its 
subsidiaries – the costs of which would be 
shared 50/50 with Land Group.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Cabinet is asked to approve either Option 1 or Option 2 as follows: 

Option 1 – Continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture vehicle and in 
doing so:

a) Issue an Extension Notice (on the basis of the terms set out in this report) to the Land 
Group LLP to continue the partnership per the Shareholders Agreement.

70



b) To continue the Leader of the Council as the nominated Shareholder Representative 
and to undertake all necessary shareholder decisions except for the approval of the 
business plan annually which is delegated to Cabinet.

c) To continue the existing governance arrangements and in doing so:
(i) Delegate all the relevant shareholder consent matters to the Shareholders 
Representative.
(ii) Delegate the appointment (and any subsequent removals or re-appointments) of: 

- the Officer Director to the Chief Executive.
- the External Director to the Shareholder Representative.
- the Member Director to the Shareholder Representative.

(iii) Indemnify the Council’s appointed Directors from personal liability.

d) To continue the appointments of the current Breckland Council appointed Directors to 
Breckland Bridge until changed by either the Chief Executive or Shareholder 
Representative (as per c) above.

         Option 2 - As per Option 1 above with the addition of:

e) Approve the additional small site project delivery.

Subject to Cabinet approval of either Option 1 or 2 above RECOMMEND TO FULL 
COUNCIL that:

a) The new business plan be agreed as outlined in summary in Table 3 of the report.

b) The financial requirements of the business plan be agreed and delegate the S.151 
Officer to undertake any related ancillary matters in order to implement the 
recommendations of this report and amend the capital and revenue budgets and any 
other on-going expenditure and release of funding including the following:

(iv) Award loans in accordance with the Council’s adopted Treasury Management 
Policy.

(v) Release up to £20,000 for the legal fees to undertake the legal due diligence and 
extension documentation.

(vi) Provide the funding and approval of the provision of the client support post.

2.2 Option 3

Do not continue to be a partner in the Breckland Bridge joint venture vehicle and do not 
extend the partnership. 

If the Council does not continue the joint venture all three initial projects from the initial 
business plan have been completed and any additional authorised projects any current 
debt or surplus in the company will be distributed or supported by the shareholders.  The 
Council would receive (if surplus exists) or contribute (if debt exists) 90% to the total.  
Appendix 3 provides further analysis on the alternative options available to the Council if 
this is option is taken.  If this option was taken in this report, further analysis of the 
options in Appendix 3 would be undertaken and brought back to Members.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 Overall the performance outputs of the joint venture have been good based on the two 
projects which have been completed (Riverside and Mileham) and the forecast outputs 
from the third project (Chapel Road, Attleborough) are positive.  It has been an effective 

71



partnership so far and the Council has been able to obtain income from land receipts 
and loan interest.  The joint venture has also added capacity to the Council’s property 
teams and thus access to strategic property advice.  This guidance has been efficient 
and cost effective and delivered at speed which would otherwise have to have been 
procured.  This should not be under-estimated given the additional activity the joint 
venture has undertaken.  The joint venture has also undertaken work to prepare sites for 
a more delivery-focused business plan over the next period, subject to the decision to 
continue.  

3.2 The Council now needs to consider whether to continue the partnership and the main 
reasons for doing so are set out below:

 Breckland Bridge is now established and should deliver both a financial return 
and housing return over the next 5-10 years.  

 The next business plan is financially viable, based on the assumptions upon 
which it has been modelled and providing the risks are managed and the controls 
embedded within the legal documentation are adhered to.  

 There are added benefits to being in the partnership and the changes that are 
proposed reflect the learning from the first business plan period.  This will 
improve the outputs for the second period which will be more delivery focused 
with less overhead on the company.  This does not lose the flexibility of receiving 
services from the partnership as required.  The re-focused financial vision will 
also assist the joint venture.

 Delivery over the initial period has been good and the partner Land Group wants 
to stay involved in the joint venture.

 Projects have been successfully delivery on time and within budget and achieved 
what they set out to achieve and they (Mileham) has made a financial surplus.

 The ability to access additional property development expertise and skills 
efficiently.

 Additional ad-hoc work property related can be undertaken without the need for 
procurement.

 Allows for delivery quickly without need for individual procurement on individual 
projects.

 There is an established and trusted partnership infrastructure and there is no 
need to re-procure the partner.

 By continuing the joint venture the Council gains further value from the 
procurement investment and set up costs.

 There are known break points over the next 10 years should the Council wish to 
exit.

 The Council earns an enhanced rate of return on its surplus cash.
 An independent property development consultant has undertaken a thorough 

assessment of the proposed financial model for the next phase of the partnership 
and concluded that - the Council would appear to receive a return commensurate 
with the risk likely for these types of development

3.3 The Council is obtaining development and delivery capacity and expertise and skills to 
deliver complex projects on time and budget against low land values and at the same 
time creating a financial surplus subject to managing the identified risk. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits from the decision to accept Option 1 or Option 2 are:

72



 Positive gross forecast financial return to the Council over the next 6 year period.
 Multiple projects can be delivered at same time.
 The capacity to deliver construction schemes.
 Skills and experience to deliver construction scheme and review assets. 
 Gives the Council the ability to choose to provide loan funding to create optimum 

return.
 Wider benefits other than immediate project delivery i.e. project development 

activity.
 Forecast housing outputs c.142 new homes over the next 6 years built on 

Council-owned land.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The Shareholders Agreement contains provision for the joint venture arrangement to be 
extended on or before the 5th Anniversary. This provision must be complied with. The 
Agreement also contains relevant break clauses at the 10th and 15th anniversaries of the 
agreement should this be necessary.  External lawyers will be instructed to review and 
amend accordingly the Shareholders Agreement if this extension is agreed.  

5.1.2 An internal governance framework already exists for the Council as shareholder to 
manage its interests and liabilities in the joint venture and no changes are proposed to 
this framework which comprises of the nomination of three directors (independent, 
member and officer) to the Company board and the nomination of the Leader as 
Shareholder Representative.  As happens now there will still be a quarterly highlight 
report to assess performance of the joint venture on an exception basis.  This will be 
provided to Cabinet Members and the business plan will be authorised by Cabinet 
annually.  The Council needs to be an intelligent client to fully support its role in this joint 
venture which is vital to its success and it is proposed that a client officer role is created 
accordingly as set out in 5.6.1.

5.1.3 Option 1 or 2 cannot be implemented until Council has approved the budget elements of 
the recommendation.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 By issuing an Extension Notice the Council will be entering into a legally binding 
agreement to continue its role in the partnership until 2030.  There are clauses to break 
the agreement if required at certain dates.

5.3 Corporate Priorities 

5.3.1 This approach underpins the following corporate priorities:

Our Council:
 Continue to strengthen our commercial approach which will secure our financial 

position by identifying income generation opportunities and efficiencies through 
trading and sharing.

 Maximise the returns generate by the Council’s commercial and operational 
assets.

73



 Continue to work effectively with all our partners to deliver significant benefits to 
the communities of Breckland.

5.4 Financial

5.4.1 The financial model for the next business plan is a decision making tool and is not an 
indication of exact returns.  Approving the continuation does not approve the individual 
projects.  They are subject to a separate approval/due diligence process.  Standstill 
costs of approx. £66k per annum remain due if the partnership enters a pause situation 
for any reason.

5.4.2 The balance of risk and reward requires careful consideration.  There is the potential to 
gain value from the Council’s assets through Option 1 and 2 and generate cash returns 
of c.£2m-£3m from interest on loans and income from sale of land.  In order to finance 
this the Council will need to commit significant cash to the joint venture on a rolling basis 
which will then not be available for other opportunities should they arise.  The cash 
commitment and forecast returns may be affected by sensitivities and controls are in 
place to minimise sensitivities and mitigate risk.

5.4.3 Under Option 3, if the continuation of the joint venture is not agreed the working capital 
and interest due at the date of the extension will not be repaid.  This would be a one off 
cost and avoiding such costs is not a reason to continue. 

5.4.4 Appendix 1 provides more detailed financial analysis. 

5.5 Risk Management 

5.5.1 See Appendix 2.

5.6 Staffing 

5.6.1 Per the existing governance arrangements which are working well it is recommended 
that the Council continues to provide one staff member to be the Officer Director on 
behalf of the Council.  

5.6.2 To further ensure the partnership is successful in the next phase it is recommended that 
funding is authorised to provide the necessary resources (new post) to coordinate and 
manage the Council’s interests in this partnership joint venture vehicle following the 
lesson learnt point in Table 2 about the sustainability of this client-side support currently.  
The costs for this post have been added to the financial assessment and deducted from 
the forecast returns. 

5.7 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.7.1 All planning applications will be subject to the usual separate consultation procedures.  If 
the recommendations are approved it is anticipated that the new business plan will be 
back-dated to a start date of 01 April 2019.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

74



Background papers: Council 28 March 2015 - Committee Report - Creation of a regeneration 
and property development joint venture – decision ref 29/15

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ralph Burton, Strategic Property Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656327
Email: Ralph.burton@breckland.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting 
Name and Post: Ralph Burton, Strategic Property Manager 

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix 1 – Financial Commentary Exempt
Appendix 2 – Risk & Risk Log Exempt
Appendix 3 – Alternative Options Exempt
Appendix 4 – Land Group Profile Exempt

75



Document is Restricted

76

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

88

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

92

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

96

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Quarter 1 2019-20 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 2019-20 Performance Overview Repor
	Appendix 2 for Quarter 1 2019-20 Performance Overview Repor

	8 Honorarium Policy
	Appendix 1 for Honorarium Policy

	9 Section 106 (S106) Briefing Note
	Appendix B Application Form for S106
	10 Section 106
	Appendix B - Application form for Section 106


	Appendix A - Current S106 Monies

	14 Work Programme
	September Key Decision Plan

	16 Breckland Bridge Extension
	18 Breckland Bridge Extension
	BB Appendix 2 Bridge Risk Log v2 090919
	BB Appendix 2 Risk Review  Risk Log
	BB Appendix 3 Alternative Options
	BB Appendix 4 Land Group Profile


